3

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

AUG 31 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

PERRY H. GRAVELY, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

CASE NO.: 2016-000536

In the Matter of Tynslee Elizabeth Fields, Deceased,
Lauren Murphy as Statutory Beneficiary, Appellant,

v.

Mark Collins, and The Estate of Tynslee Elizabeth Fields, Defendants,

Of Whom Mark Collins is the Respondent.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Charles W. Marchbanks, Jr.
S.C. Bar No.: 76935
Attorney for the Appellant
1225 South Church Street
Greenville, SC 29605
864-552-1606 Telephone
864-552-1607 Facsimile
Charles.Marchbanks@MarchbanksLawFirm.com

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is a dispute between Appellant Lauren Murphy and Respondent Mark Collins regarding the distribution of funds derived from the settlement of the wrongful death lawsuit regarding their daughter, Tynslee Elizabeth Fields. (ROA p. 356-360). Although the references to these parties in the record of the case varies and alternates throughout the record of the case, with each party at some point being referred to as Appellant, Respondent, Petitioner, or Movant, for purposes of clarity, this document consistently refers to Lauren Murphy as “Appellant” and Mark Collins as “Respondent.” Brackets herein indicate when a party’s identifying term is altered from the record.

On June 12, 2012, Appellant gave birth to Tynslee Fields [hereinafter “Tynslee” or “Decedent”]. (ROA p. 17, Item 12). Tynslee’s neck was broken by the OBGYN during delivery. (ROA p. 18, Item 16). She died the same day. (ROA p. 17, Item 12). This action began with Tynslee’s death.

On July 15, 2014, the Greenville County Probate Court Order appointed Appellant the Personal Representative of Tynslee’s Estate. (ROA p. 406). On or about August 2, 2013, Appellant commenced the matter of *Lauren Murphy, individually, and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Tynslee Fields, vs. Bon Secours Health System, Inc., et. al*, Case No. 2013-CP-23-04186 [hereinafter “Case No. 2013-CP-23-04186”], in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas. (ROA p. 45). Litigation ensued against the defendants named therein and a partial settlement was reached as to Defendants Mercy Obstetrics & Gynecology, P.A. and Ragesh Pandya, M.D. (ROA pp. 45-46).

On or about February 24, 2014, the Order approving the settlement as to Defendants Mercy Obstetrics & Gynecology, P.A. and Ragesh Pandya, M.D. was entered

by the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas. (ROA pp. 45-46). The Circuit Court approved the sum of Five Thousand dollars (\$5,000.00) being allocated to the survival action, as well as the payment of the sum of Five Hundred Eighty-Three Thousand, Five Hundred Seventy-Seven Dollars and Fifty-Two Cents (\$583,577.52) (hereinafter referred to as “wrongful death proceeds”) to the statutory beneficiaries. (ROA pp. 45-46). Both amounts were placed in trust with the firm handling the medical malpractice claim, the Hughey Law Firm, LLC.

On July 2, 2014, Appellant filed a Petition with the Greenville County Probate Court seeking to deny Respondent any proceeds derived or to be derived from the wrongful death action. (ROA pp. 392-395).

The Greenville County Probate Court declined to adjudicate Appellant’s Petition on July 15, 2014, directing her to address the issue with the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas as the case was still active therein. (ROA p. 522).

On or about August 6, 2014, Respondent filed a Motion to Compel Distribution in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas. (ROA pp. 371-388). Appellant filed a Return on August 15, 2014, along with a Motion to Deny Respondent any proceeds from the wrongful death litigation. (ROA pp. 354-370).

The Circuit Court heard Respondent’s Motion to Compel and Appellant’s Motion to Deny Respondent proceeds on September 30, 2014. (ROA pp. 32-39).

After reviewing the file but before hearing the merits of the case, the Circuit Court found conflict between the two statutes applicable to the parties’ respective motions. (ROA p. 37). One statute, Section 62-1-302(b), conferred concurrent jurisdiction upon both the Probate and Circuit Court regarding matters of allocation;

however, the other, Section 15-51-40, expressly stated that actions brought to deny proceeds to a statutory beneficiary may only be brought in the Probate Court. Based upon the language of Section 15-51-440, the Circuit Court ordered the parties to take the matter up in Probate Court. (ROA p. 38).

The Circuit Court further ordered that: the settlement proceeds being held by the Hughey Law Firm, LLC be disbursed to the Attorney for Tynslee's Estate, Ruth Hindman DiPasquale; Attorney DiPasquale administrate that account pursuant to the Court's Order; and the funds be placed into an interest-bearing account which could only be drawn upon at the direction of a final Court Order stating how the proceeds should be distributed. (ROA pp. 38-39).

Subsequent to the Circuit Court's Order, The Hughey Law Firm, LLC released the settlement funds to Attorney DiPasquale, and Attorney DiPasquale deposited the settlement proceeds into an interest-earning account with BNC Banking.

Appellant filed a Motion to Deny Respondent all proceeds with Greenville County Probate Court on November 18, 2014, (ROA pp. 272-294) and Respondent timely filed a Return to Appellant's Motion (ROA pp. 221-271).

The Greenville County Probate Court convened a hearing on January 9, 2015 wherein the Court received documented evidence from the parties, took in testimony in the form of Affidavits, and heard oral arguments of counsel. (ROA pp. 12-31).

Appellant sought to exclude Respondent from benefitting from Tynslee's death because Respondent did nothing to grasp the opportunity to assert himself as Tynslee's father. (ROA p. 30, Item 4). By his own admission, he provided no support for Appellant during her pregnancy, provided nothing for the child during the course of her life,

provided nothing towards the expenses of Tynslee's funeral or burial, and did not pursue a relationship with the minor child. (ROA pp. 28, 29). Further, evidence was shown suggesting that Respondent did not suffer from Tynslee's death, whether it was pecuniary loss, mental shock and suffering, wounded feelings, grief, sorrow, or loss of companionship. (ROA p. 18, Item 15).

Appellant additionally argued that, had Tynslee survived, Appellant could have placed her for adoption absent Respondent's relinquishment or consent because the evidence was clear that Respondent neglected Appellant and Tynslee to the extent such that adoption case law would support finding Respondent waived his Constitutional Right to have a relationship with his biological daughter. (ROA pp. 285-287). Appellant maintained that if Respondent's failures cleared the threshold divesting him of a well-established Constitutional Right, he should not have a right to money from Tynslee's wrongful death claim. (ROA pp. 286-287).

Respondent countered with the argument that S.C. Code Sections 15-51-40 and 53-5-20 did not apply because Tynslee lived for such a short period of time and, as such, Respondent did not have the opportunity to provide support for her. Respondent averred the controlling statute in the case was Section 62-2-103(2) of the South Carolina Intestacy Statute. (ROA p. 224). Therefore, Respondent argued, Appellant and Respondent should divide the proceeds of Tynslee's wrongful death settlement equally. (ROA p. 224).

The Probate Court took the matter under advisement and invited the parties to submit case law from other jurisdictions on the issues regarding their respective positions. (ROA pp. 518-519). Appellant submitted extra-jurisdictional case law for the

consideration of the Court on January 23, 2015. (ROA pp. 168-220). Respondent submitted a statement to the Court on January 27, 2015 that no applicable extra-jurisdictional case law could be located. (ROA pp. 165-167).

On April 29, 2015, the Probate Court issued an Order finding Appellant had shown, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Respondent, an able-bodied man who is and was working full time, failed to provide reasonable support as set forth in S.C. Code of Laws Section 15-51-40 (1976 as amended) and Section 63-5-20(A) (1976 as amended), such that: (a) his right to receive any portion of the proceeds received in Civil Action: 2013-CP-23-04186 was denied and (b) he was divested of any proceeds received from any future settlement or verdict in any matter wherein his claim is based upon his relationship with Decedent. (ROA pp. 12-31).

Respondent appealed the Probate Court's decision to the Circuit Court, and Circuit Court considered the briefs of the parties and heard oral argument on the issues at a hearing on September 10, 2015. (ROA pp. 407-437).

Subsequent to the Circuit Court hearing but prior to issuing its ruling, the Circuit Court approved the final settlement of Civil Action: 2013-CP-23-04186 for twenty thousand and no/100 dollars (\$20,000.00) against the last remaining Defendant in the case. As such, Civil Action: 2013-CP-23-04186 was dismissed, with prejudice, on October 15, 2015. This final settlement amount, combined with the release of funds from the initial settlement being held by the Hughley Law Firm, LLC for continuing litigation, plus the funds already existing in trust created the sum total of all proceeds to be gained from the underlying claim in this matter, Six Hundred Thirty-Five Thousand, Three Hundred Four and 51/100 dollars (\$635,304.51).

Regarding the issue of the distribution of proceeds, the Circuit Court issued an Order on December 28, 2015 reversing the decision of the Probate Court, stating, in part, “Due to Tynslee’s short life and the circumstances surrounding her death..., [Respondent] being unaware that he was Tynslee’s father, was unable to provide the more usual means of attention and support to his minor child during her brief life. There is no evidence which reasonably supports the application of the statute in this regard.” (ROA pp. 5-11).

Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider with the Circuit Court on December 28, 2015 requesting the Court review its findings of fact in light of the applicable standard of review. (ROA pp. 80-84). The Circuit Court denied Appellant’s Motion on February 4, 2016. (ROA pp.3-4).

Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals on March 11, 2016. (ROA p. 50).

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review.

“The standard of review applicable to cases originating in the probate court depends upon whether the underlying cause of action is at law or in equity. An issue regarding statutory interpretation is a question of law.” University of Southern Cal. v. Moran, 617 S.E.2d 135, 365 S.C. 270 (SC, 2005) (emphasis added) citing In re Estate of Hyman, 362 S.C. 20, 25, 606 S.E.2d 205, 207 (Ct. App. 2004); In re Thames, 344 S.C. 564, 568, 544 S.E.2d 854, 856 (Ct. App. 2001) and Wimberly v. Barr, 359 S.C. 414, 597 S.E.2d 853 (Ct. App. 2004).

“If the proceeding in the probate court is in the nature of an action at law, the circuit court and the appellate court may not disturb the probate court’s findings of fact

unless a review of the record discloses there is no evidence to support them.” In re Estate of Pallister, 363 S.C. 437, 611 S.E.2d 250 (SC, 2005) (emphasis added) citing Matter of Howard, 315 S.C. 356, 361, 434 S.E.2d 254, 257 (1993); Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976); In re Estate of Weeks, 329 S.C. 251, 262, 495 S.E.2d 454, 460 (Ct. App. 1997).

“The standard of review at law is the same whether the facts are found by a jury or the judge sitting without a jury.” In The Matter of Howard, 434 S.E.2d 254, 315 S.C. 356 (S.C., 1993).

II. Arguments.

- A. **The Greenville County Circuit Court wrongly reversed the decision of the Probate Court of Greenville County because the reversal was based upon the Court’s erroneous application of the standard of review in this case which altered and omitted relevant evidence from the record, thereby eroding the factual findings relied upon by the Probate Court in reaching its decision to divest Respondent of the proceeds from the settlement of Civil Action: 2013-CP-23-04186.**

The standard of review applicable to cases originating in Probate Court is stated above.

The Circuit Court, however, cites language from the 1993 South Carolina Supreme Court decision of *The Matter of Howard*, that is found not under the heading, “STANDARD OF REVIEW” but under the heading “CLAIMS FOR MONEY” that states, “The proceeding in this case involves claims for money due. Ordinarily, such claims are triable at law with an attendant right to trial by jury. (ROA p. 8) Therefore, if there is any evidence in this case that **reasonably supports** the factual findings of the probate judge, his order must be affirmed.” The Matter of Howard, 434 S.E.2d 254, 315 S.C. 356 (S.C., 1993). (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Regardless of which standard is applied, it is clear the Circuit Court abused its discretion by altering and/or overlooking significant findings of fact made by the Probate Court.

The variance between the factual findings of Probate Court and the Circuit Court are evident where the Circuit Court found, “The parties were never married, but continued their relationship for several more months during which time they attended the medical appointment for the ultrasound to determine the child’s sex.” (ROA pp. 6-7). The Probate Court, however, found that, “Soon after the pregnancy announcement, the relationship between [Respondent] and [Appellant] deteriorated.” (ROA p. 16, Item 4). “In December, 2011, despite alleging he was prohibited from attending any doctor’s appointments with [Appellant], it is undisputed that [Respondent] attended the first-trimester ultrasound with [Appellant] for the purpose of determining the sex of the child.” (ROA p. 17, Item 7).

Of significant concern to Appellant is that the Circuit Court’s ruling reversing the Order of the Probate Court expressly states, “Due to Tynslee’s short life and the circumstances surrounding her death, **[Respondent] being unaware that he was Tynslee’s father, was unable to provide the more usual means of attention and support to his minor child during her brief life.**” (ROA p. 10) (emphasis added).

Given that the Circuit Court relied on Respondent not knowing he was Tynslee’s father in its decision to reverse the Probate Court, the import of the difference in these findings is substantial. The Circuit Court appears to draw the conclusion that after the ultrasound appointment of December 2011, Respondent no longer felt responsible for the child. Contrarily, because the parties’ relationship deteriorated before Respondent

attended the ultrasound, it is clear Respondent's motive for going was not to be with Appellant but because he knew the child was his.

Further, the following findings of fact by the Probate Court relevant to the above discussion left unconsidered by the Circuit Court are as follows:

- a. "After sharing the news [of their pregnancy] with [Respondent], [Appellant] shared the news that she and [Respondent] were expecting a baby with her family and her friends. [Respondent's] sister was also aware of the news as well as Angela King, mother of [Respondent's] other 2 children." (ROA p. 16, Item 2).
- b. "In an Affidavit submitted to the Probate Court, [Respondent] alleged that he promised [Appellant] to always be an active father in [their] child's life." (ROA p. 16, Item 2).
- c. "In the same Affidavit, [Respondent] states he told [Appellant] that even though the parties' relationship had ended, but he would not turn his back on her or their child." (ROA p. 16, Item 4).
- d. "[Appellant] intensified her relationship with [her previous boyfriend] and tells [Respondent] she believes [her previous boyfriend] is the baby's father. [Respondent] claims [Appellant] prohibited him from going to any doctor's appointments and blocked his telephone calls. This was in November, 2011." (ROA p. 16, Item 5).
- e. "On November 28, 2011, [Appellant] had her first pre-natal visit. At the visit, she listed [her previous boyfriend] as the child's father. She alleges that she did this since [Respondent] was out of the picture, and she felt her future was with [her previous boyfriend]." (ROA p. 16, Item 6).
- f. "In December, 2011, despite alleging he was prohibited from attending any doctor's appointments with [Appellant], it is undisputed that [Respondent] attended the first-trimester ultrasound with [Appellant] for the purpose of determining the sex of the child. Later [Respondent] gave [Appellant] a necklace with the word *Mom* for Christmas in December, 2011." (ROA p. 17, Item 7).
- g. "In February, 2012, [Respondent] promised to purchase a comforter for the baby which he never did." (ROA p. 17, Item 9).
- h. "[Appellant] had seventeen (17) prenatal appointments with the last one being on June 5. [Respondent] did not attend or inquire about any of these appointments." (ROA p. 17, Item 9).

- i. “[Respondent] became engaged to [another woman] and suggested several times that [his fiancée] did not trust him. As such, he became indifferent to [Appellant] and the pregnancy.” (ROA p. 17, Item 9).
- j. “On June 12, Angela King called [Respondent] expressing her sorrow over [Tynslee’s] death. This was the first time [Respondent] knew of the baby’s death. Ms. King learned of it via *Facebook*. [Respondent] became concerned and called [] his fiancée, to discuss whether he should go to the hospital. He decided not to go to the hospital.” (ROA p. 17, Item 11).
- k. **“On June 16, [Respondent] did not attend [Tynslee’s] funeral. He went to the lake with his family.”** (ROA p. 18, Item 15) (emphasis added).
- l. “At some point after the baby’s death, the Coroner informed [Appellant] that [Tynslee’s] neck had been broken during delivery.” (ROA p. 18, Item 16).
- m. “With this knowledge, Murphy visited [Respondent’s] sister, gave her pictures of the baby, and apologized for lying to [Respondent] about [her previous boyfriend] being [Tynslee’s] father.” (ROA p. 18, Item 17).
- n. “[Appellant] arranged a meeting with [Respondent] in July, 2012. At some point after discussing the possibility of recovering against the medical providers, [Respondent] agreed to have a DNA test. He paid for one half of the test.” (ROA p. 18, Item 18).
- o. “The DNA test conclusively established [Respondent] as Tynslee’s father. At a meeting arranged by Appellant, [Appellant] presented the test results to [Respondent]. He did not offer any denial or challenge the results. After seeing the results, [Respondent] asked if he could have some photographs of Tynslee. Then [Respondent’s] fiancée, drove up and [Respondent] left immediately without further discussion.” (ROA p. 18, Item 19).
- p. “[Appellant] made a box of photographs and other memorabilia for [Respondent]. [Appellant] still has the box, although she says has made it available to [Respondent]. [Respondent] has not alleged that he desired photographs of Tynslee.” (ROA p. 19, Item 20).
- q. “In September, 2012, [Appellant] sent a text to [Respondent] inviting him to a Memorial Walk for Tynslee set for October 21, 2012. After the text, [Respondent] called [Appellant], put her on *speaker phone* and told her he was never going to speak to her again. [Respondent’s fiancée] was present with [Respondent] listening to the conversation.” (ROA p. 19, Items 21 & 22) (emphasis in original).

- r. “The next meeting between [Appellant] and [Respondent] was on December 3, 2012, at the Probate Court hearing on the appointment of a Personal Representative for Tynslee.” (ROA p. 19, Item 23).
- s. “After Tynslee’s death, [Appellant] was diagnosed with Acute Stress Disorder, a Parent-Child Relational Problem, and later a Generalized Anxiety Disorder. In January, 2014, she was diagnosed by the clinician with Post Traumatic Stress Disorder.” (ROA p. 19, Item 23).
- t. “[Appellant], alone, undertook to vindicate Tynslee’s death by initiating an action to become Personal Representative, by engaging counsel to file suit against the individuals and entities responsible for her death. After reaching a settlement with some of the Defendants, she appeared in Circuit Court with her attorneys. She has filed a complaint with the Medical Board against the doctor, contacted state lawmakers to advocate for laws to protect other newborns, worked with March of Dimes, organized a memorial event to honor Tynslee’s 2nd birthday, and collected baby blankets to donate in Tynslee’s honor to the GHS NICU. She is also inquiring into the establishment of a park in memory of Tynslee. The record does not show that [Respondent] participated in or initiated any event to memorialize Tynslee.” (ROA p. 19, Item 25).

In its response to Appellant’s Motion to Reconsider the Court’s December 28, 2015 Order reversing the Probate Court, the Circuit Court rationalized the above inconsistencies as follows, “The December 28, 2015 Order of this Court found that there was **no ‘evidence... that reasonably supports the factual findings of the probate judge...’** (ROA p. 4) (emphasis added).

Here, the Circuit Court interjects a reasonableness standard into the Standard of Review. Appellant contends this is an abuse of discretion as the Standard of Review states that while the Order of the Probate Court must be upheld “if there is any evidence in this case that reasonably supports the factual findings of the probate judge, the appellate court may not disturb the probate court’s findings of fact unless a review of the record discloses there is **no** evidence to support them.” The Matter of Howard, 434

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