THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

PERRY H. GRAVELY, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

---

CASE NO.: 2016-000536

---

In the matter of Tynslee Elizabeth Fields, Deceased,  
Lauren Murphy, as statutory beneficiary, Appellant,

v.

Mark Collins, and The Estate of Tynslee Elizabeth Fields, Defendants,

Of Whom Mark Collins is the Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

JESSICA SALVINI, ESQ.  
S.C. Bar No. 69301  
SALVINI & BENNETT, LLC  
101 W. Park Ave.  
Greenville, SC 29601  
Telephone No. (864) 232-5800  
Facsimile No. (864) 232-5888

JOHN M. READ, ESQ.  
S.C. Bar No. 12569  
THE READ LAW FIRM

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

## **ARGUMENTS**

### **I. THE GREENVILLE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS APPLICATION OF THE STANDARD OF REVIEW WHEN IT REVERSED THE DECISION OF THE PROBATE COURT OF GREENVILLE COUNTY IN THE MATTER OF *TYNSLEE ELIZABETH FIELDS, DECEASED; LAUREN MURPHY AS STATUTORY BENEFICIARY VS. MARK COLLINS, AND THE ESTATE OF TYNSLEE ELIZABETH FIELDS, DECEASED*, CASE NO. 2012-ES-23-01718.**

#### **A. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

It is undisputed that the instant case is a matter at law. Further, it was tried before the Probate Court of Greenville County without a jury.

On appeal from an action at law, the circuit court and the appellate court may not disturb the probate court's findings of fact unless a review of the record discloses that no evidence supports them. Questions of law may, however, be decided by this court without deference to the lower court.

Estate of Patterson v. Palmetto Bank, 374 S.C. 116, 119, 646 S.E.2d 885, 887 (Ct. App. 2007) (citations omitted). “When reviewing an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the appellate court's jurisdiction is limited to correction of errors at law. The appellate court will not disturb the judge's findings of fact as long as they are reasonably supported by the evidence.” See *Epworth Children's Home v. Beasley*, 365 S.C. 157, 164, 616 S.E.2d 710, 714 (2005).

**B. ARGUMENT**

The issues raised in the matter of *Tynslee Elizabeth Fields, Deceased; Lauren Murphy as Statutory Beneficiary vs. Mark Collins, and the Estate of Tynslee Elizabeth Fields, Deceased*, Case No. 2012-ES-23-01718 are those of a matter at law. Thus, the Circuit Court applied the following standard of review when it considered the Probate Court’s order divesting Respondent of his interest in the wrongful death and estate proceeds at issue in this matter:

On appeal from an action at law, the circuit court and the appellate court may not disturb the probate court’s findings of fact unless a review of the record discloses that no evidence supports them. Questions of law may, however, be decided by this court without deference to the lower court.

Estate of Patterson v. Palmetto Bank, 374 S.C. 116, 119, 646 S.E.2d 885, 887 (Ct. App. 2007) (citations omitted).

This standard of review was established by the Supreme Court’s ruling in the *Matter of Howard*, 315 S.C. 356, 361-62, 434 S.E.2d 254 (S.C. 1993). In the *Matter of Howard*, the Supreme Court addressed the standard of review to be applied by the Circuit Court when considering appeals from the Probate Court.

The *Matter of Howard* was an action in which the personal representative and the heirs of a decedent’s estate engaged in litigation in the Probate Court regarding whether claims against the estate should be disallowed. The Probate Court, considering the applicable statute pertaining to claims filed against a decedent’s estate, allowed the claims in part. The parties to the litigation

appealed the Probate Court's decision to the Circuit Court and it reversed. *See Matter of Howard*, 315 S.C. 356, 359, 434 S.E.2d 254, 256 (1993).

The primary issue in the *Matter of Howard* was whether the Circuit Court applied the correct standard of review when it reversed the Probate Court's order. In the *Matter of Howard*, the Circuit Court "appl[ied] the 'substantial evidence' standard of appellate review, [when it] modified the probate court's decision. *Matter of Howard*, 315 S.C. at 359. On review, the *Howard* Court found and held that the Circuit Court erred when it applied the "substantial evidence" standard of review. *Id.* at 360. In doing so, the Court held:

Appeal from the probate court is governed by the provisions of the Probate Code. The Code provides that a final order or decree of the probate court may be appealed to the circuit court. The circuit court must hear and determine the appeal "according to the rules of law." As used in this statute, the phrase "according to the rules of law" means according to the rules governing appeals.

*Id.* (citations omitted). "[I]f there is neither a statute nor a rule of court expressly prescribing a different standard of review, the circuit court must apply the same standard that ... the Court of Appeals would apply were the appeal taken directly to either of them." *Id.* at 361. As a result thereof, the following standard of review is to be applied by the Circuit Court when reviewing a decision of the Probate Court:

The rules governing appeals at law and in equity are well settled. If the proceeding in the probate court is in the nature of an action at law, the circuit court may not disturb the probate court's findings of fact unless a review of the record discloses there is no evidence to support them. The standard of review at law is the same whether the facts are found by a jury or the judge sitting without a jury. On the other hand, if the probate proceeding is equitable in nature, the circuit court, on appeal, may make factual findings according to its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.

*Id.* at 361-62.

Applying the aforementioned standard of review to the issues in the *Matter of Howard* the Court first determined if the action was one at law or equity. The *Matter of Howard* involved claims for money based on the Probate Code provision permitting persons or entities to make

claims against the decedent's estate – a matter at law. Thus, the *Howard* Court applied the standard for determining matters of law and held: “if there is any evidence in this case that *reasonably* supports the factual findings of the probate judge, his order must be affirmed.” *Id.* at 362 (emphasis added).

It is undisputed in the instant case that the issue before the Circuit Court was a matter of law. Thus, the Circuit Court applied the appropriate standard of review established by the *Matter of Howard*. However, Appellant argues on appeal that the Circuit Court in this matter abused its discretion, claiming the Circuit Court “interject[ed] a reasonableness standard into the Standard of Review” because it found there “was no evidence...that reasonably supports the factual findings of the probate judge....” (Initial Brief of Appellant at p. 12). Appellant's argument is meritless.

The standard of review applied by the Circuit Court in the instant case is well-established. In matters at law the Circuit Court “may not disturb the probate court's findings of fact unless a review of the record discloses there is no evidence to support them” and “if there is any evidence in [the] case that reasonably supports the factual findings of the probate judge, [the] order must be affirmed.” *Matter of Howard*, 315 S.C. at 361-62. This standard is applied in every matter of law, regardless if the issue is a claim for money, a distinction the Appellant appears to try to make herein. “When reviewing an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the appellate court's jurisdiction is limited to correction of errors at law. The appellate court will not disturb the judge's findings of fact as long as they are reasonably supported by the evidence.” *See Epworth Children's Home v. Beasley*, 365 S.C. 157, 164, 616 S.E.2d 710, 714 (2005). There is no distinction to be made. *See Golini v. Bolton*, 326 S.C. 333, 338-39, 482 S.E.2d 784, 787 (Ct. App. 1997); *Smith v. McCall*, 324 S.C. 356, 357, 477 S.E.2d 475, 475 (Ct. App. 1996) (Determination of elective share is a matter at law and probate court's ruling shall not be disturbed if there is any

evidence that reasonably supports the factual findings of the probate judge); *Martin v. Skinner*, 286 S.C. 527, 335 S.E.2d 252 (Ct.App.1985) (Circuit Court's determination of the validity of a Will is a case at law and probate court's ruling shall not be disturbed if there is any evidence that reasonably supports the factual findings of the probate judge).

Applying this standard of review, the Circuit Court determined the applicable South Carolina statutory provisions and considered the clear and unambiguous language of the statutes, in light of the facts of this case. In doing so, the Circuit Court found this case involves a dispute over the wrongful death and estate proceeds resulting from the death of the parties' infant child. It determined that applicable South Carolina statutory law provides that wrongful death proceeds are to be divided equally between the statutory beneficiaries. *See* S.C. Code Section 15-51-40. The Circuit Court found there are two undisputed statutory beneficiaries, the Appellant and Respondent; and as the parents, they are to share equally in their minor child's estate. S. C. Code Section 62-2-103. The Circuit Court also correctly found that "there are only certain circumstances in which the Probate Court may limit a statutory beneficiary's entitlement" to the wrongful death and estate proceeds. (R. pp. 5-11). Statutorily, the Probate Court may only limit or deny a parent's entitlement for a share in the proceeds "if the court determines, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the parent or parents failed to reasonably provide support for the decedent as defined in Section 63-5-20 and did not otherwise provide for the needs of the decedent during his or her minority." S.C. Code Section 15-51-40 (emphasis added). The Circuit Court considered the provisions of South Carolina Code Section 63-5-20, which directed the Circuit Court to the relevant time period to make its determination of whether Respondent provided reasonable support for his minor child. The statutory time period was during her minority. It was undisputed that the parties' minor child's life spanned mere minutes to hours, where she underwent emergency care. The Circuit Court

considered and rejected the Probate Court’s findings that the “burial, funeral, memorial and legal expenses and time spent in pursuit of the wrongful death action constituted ‘unusual necessities’ under S.C. Code Section 63-5-20(A),...” and since Respondent did not provide for and or contribute to these expenses he should be divested of his interest in the proceeds. In doing so, the Circuit Court applied the plain and unambiguous language of S.C. Code Section 15-51-40, which defined the relevant time period. None of the aforementioned expenses were incurred during that time period. There was no evidence that supported the findings of the Probate Court in light of the applicable statutes; and the Circuit Court correctly found the same in accordance with the appropriate standard of review. Thus, the Circuit Court’s order herein should be affirmed.

**II. THE GREENVILLE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT FOUND THE PROBATE COURT OF GREENVILLE COUNTY DID NOT PROPERLY APPLY THE APPLICABLE LAW IN THIS CASE.**

**A. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

*See supra.*

**B. ARGUMENT**

South Carolina statutory and supporting case law are clear on the manner in which wrongful death and estate proceeds are to be distributed. That is, they are to be divided equally to the statutory beneficiaries. S.C. Code Section 15-51-40.

Section 15-51-40 provides in pertinent part:

The amount so recovered shall be divided among the [statutory beneficiaries] in those shares as they would have been entitled to if the deceased had died intestate and the amount recovered had been personal assets of his or her estate.

According to South Carolina’s laws governing intestacy, in the event of a death of a minor child the entire estate passes as follows: “...if there is no surviving issue, to his parent or parents equally...” S.C. Code Section 62-2-103.

In the instant case, it is undisputed that Appellant and Respondent are the parents of the deceased minor child, Tynslee Elizabeth Fields. Thus, pursuant to well-established statutory law, Appellant and Respondent are to divide equally the proceeds at issue in this case.

Either statutory beneficiary had the right to seek to limit or divest the other of the proceeds at issue in this matter. The Appellant herein filed such a motion seeking to limit or divest the Respondent of the wrongful death and estate proceeds. The Probate Court's authority to grant such a request however, is governed by South Carolina Code Section 15-51-40, which provides as follows:

[U]pon motion by either parent or any other party of potential interest based upon the decedent having died intestate, the probate court may deny or limit either or both parent's entitlement for a share of the proceeds if the court determines, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the parent or parents failed to reasonably provide support for the decedent as defined in Section 63-5-20 and did not otherwise provide for the needs of the decedent during his or her minority.

S.C. Code Section 15-51-40.

South Carolina Code Section 63-5-20 is referenced in the aforementioned statute and provides that a parent must provide "reasonable support" unless the parent has just cause or excuse for failure to do so. It specifically states,

A) Any able-bodied person capable of earning a livelihood who shall, without just cause or excuse, abandon or fail to provide reasonable support to his or her spouse or to his or her minor unmarried legitimate or illegitimate child dependent upon him or her shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor ... As used in this section "reasonable support" means an amount of financial assistance which, when combined with the support the member is reasonably capable of providing for himself or herself, will provide a living standard for the member substantially equal to that of the person owing the duty to support. It includes both usual and unusual necessities.

South Carolina Code Section 63-5-20. Thus, there is clear, unambiguous statutory law governing the Appellant's request and this case.

Even though “[t]he cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the legislative intent whenever possible,” “[t]he plain language of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislature's intent.” *Perry v. Bullock*, 409 S.C. 137, 140, 761 S.E.2d 251, 253 (2014). “Where the statute’s language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear, definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.” *Gay vs. Ariail*, 381 S.C. 341, 345, 673 S.E.2d 418, 420 (2009); *see also C. Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. Guar. Ass'n v. Brock*, 410 S.C. 361, 367, 764 S.E.2d 920, 922 (2014). “When interpreting a statute, courts must presume the legislature did not intend to do a futile act.” *State v. Sweat*, 379 S.C. 367, 377, 665 S.E.2d 645, 651 (Ct. App. 2008). “A statute should be so construed that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous. ...” *Id.* (quoting *Matter of Decker*, 322 S.C. 215, 219, 471 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1995)). “Courts are constrained to avoid a statutory construction that would have the effect of reading a provision out of a statute.” *Steinke v. S.C. Dep't of Labor, Licensing & Regulation*, 336 S.C. 373, 396, 520 S.E.2d 142, 154 (1999). Further, “[i]n construing a statute, [courts]...are constrained to avoid an absurd result.” *Roche v. Young Brothers Inc.*, 332 S.C. 81, 504 S.E.2d 314.

The Circuit Court herein correctly interpreted and applied the terms and provisions of Section 15-51-40 and Section 63-5-20(A) to the instant matter. The plain and unambiguous language of Section 15-51-40 specifically provides that the Probate Court may only limit or divest a parent’s entitlement to wrongful death and estate proceeds *if* it finds by the preponderance of the evidence: 1) that a parent failed to reasonably provide support for the decedent as defined in Section 63-5-20 *and* 2) did not otherwise provide for the needs of the decedent during his or her minority. *See* S.C. Code Section 15-51-40. Thus, in the instant matter the Probate Court was required to make both findings before it could divest Respondent of the proceeds herein.

In applying Section 15-51-40, the legislature specifically referenced the definition contained in Section 63-5-20 for what constitutes “reasonable support” for a minor child. In addition, the legislature specifically provided that the relevant time period for determining whether a parent failed to provide “reasonable support” for a deceased child was during his or her minority – not before or after.

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